

# 1. Call to Order and Roll Call

Present:	8 -	Commissioner Foos, Commissioner Hensler, Chair Hente, Vice Chair McMurray,
		Commissioner Rickett, Commissioner Slattery, Alternate Griggs and Alternate Cecil
Excused:	3 -	Commissioner Almy, Commissioner Briggs and Commissioner Raughton

# 2. Approval of the Minutes

2.A. <u>CPC 23-306</u> Minutes for the May 10, 2023, Planning Commission Meeting

Presenter: Scott Hente, Chair of the City Planning Commission

Motion by Commissioner Rickett, seconded by Commissioner Foos, that this Minutes be accepted 3. Changes to Agenda/Postponements The motion passed by a vote of

- Aye: 5 Commissioner Foos, Commissioner Hensler, Chair Hente, Commissioner Rickett and Commissioner Slattery
- Recused: 1 Vice Chair McMurray
- Excused: 3 Commissioner Almy, Commissioner Briggs and Commissioner Raughton
- Abstain: 1 Alternate Griggs and Alternate Cecil

# 3. Changes to Agenda/Postponements

3.A. A request for postponement was made for case APPL-23-0002. The request was denied.

The request was denied. The motion passed by a vote of 6:0:0:3

# Motion by Commissioner Rickett, seconded by Vice Chair McMurray, that this be denied The motion passed by a vote of

- Aye: 6 Commissioner Foos, Commissioner Hensler, Chair Hente, Vice Chair McMurray, Commissioner Rickett and Commissioner Slattery
- Excused: 3 Commissioner Almy, Commissioner Briggs and Commissioner Raughton

# 4. Communications

Peter Wysocki - Planning & Community Development Director

Mike Tassi, Assistant Director of Planning had no updates.

# 5. Consent Calendar

These items will be acted upon as a whole, unless a specific item is called for discussion by a Commissioner/Board Member or a citizen wishing to address the Commission or Board. (Any items called up for separate consideration shall be acted upon following the Consent Vote.)

# Equipment Share

**5.A.** <u>CUDP-23-00</u> A conditional use development plan for a construction equipment rental and sales business with an 11,203 square-foot building with outdoor storage and ancillary site improvements.

(Quasi-Judicial)

Presenter:

Tamara Baxter, Senior Planner, Planning & Community Development

# Safe Place 4 Pets

5.B. <u>CUDP-23-00</u> A conditional use development plan to establish a kennel use in a <u>11</u> PBC/HS(Planned Business Center (to become MX-M (Mixed-Use Medium Scale)) with hillside overlay) zone district, located at 808 Village Center Drive.

(Quasi-Judicial)

Presenter: Austin Cooper, Planner II, Planning and Community Development

## Approval of the Consent Agenda

Motion by Commissioner Rickett, seconded by Vice-chair McMurray, that all matters on the Consent Calendar be passed, adopted, and approved by unanimous consent of the members present. The motion passed by a vote of 6:0:0:3

- Aye: 6 Commissioner Foos, Commissioner Hensler, Chair Hente, Vice Chair McMurray, Commissioner Rickett and Commissioner Slattery
- Excused: 3 Commissioner Almy, Commissioner Briggs and Commissioner Raughton

# 6. Items Called Off Consent Calendar

# 919 North El Paso

5.C. <u>SUBD-23-00</u> A Subdivision Waiver to the procedural requirements of a replat set forth in City Code section 7.7.305 to allow only a portion of the boundaries of the original platting configuration to be replatted at 919 N El Paso St. 919 N El Paso St is 5,900 square feet in the SU (Special Use) zone district.

(Quasi-Judicial)

Related Files: SUBD-23-0029, NVAR-23-0012

Presenter:

Ann Odom, Planner II, Urban Planning Division

Motion by Commissioner Rickett, seconded by Commissioner Foos, to approve the 919 N EI Paso St Subdivision Waiver based upon the findings that the review criteria for granting a subdivision waiver as set forth in City Code Section 7.7.1302.A have been met. This recommendation includes the following technical modifications: Technical Modification: 1. Update the site plan to include the lot coverage calculation and the location and extent of all encroachments on the property. 2. Update the elevations to show utility meters and meet height requirements for accessory structures. The motion passed by a vote of 6:0:0:3

- Aye: 6 Commissioner Foos, Commissioner Hensler, Chair Hente, Vice Chair McMurray, Commissioner Rickett and Commissioner Slattery
- 5.D.SUBD-23-00<br/>29A Final Plat application that will replat the parcel at 919 N El Paso St.<br/>919 N El Paso St is 5,900 square feet in the SU (Special Use) zone<br/>district.

(Quasi-Judicial)

Related Files: SUBD-23-0028, NVAR-23-0012

Presenter:

Ann Odom, Planner II, Urban Planning Division

Motion by Commissioner Slattery, seconded by Commissioner Foos, to approve the 919 N El Paso St Final Plat based upon the findings that the review criteria for granting a subdivision waiver as set forth in City Code Section 7.7.1302 and the replat requirements set forth in City Code Section 7.7.305 have been met. This recommendation includes the following technical modifications:

Condition of Approval: 1. Gain final acceptance of the project's drainage study

Technical Modification: 1. Update replat plans to reflect additional minor details requested by SWENT and Real Estate Services.

#### The motion passed by a vote of 6:0:0:3

- Aye: 6 Commissioner Foos, Commissioner Hensler, Chair Hente, Vice Chair McMurray, Commissioner Rickett and Commissioner Slattery
- 5.E.NVAR<br/>23-0012A Nonuse Variance to City Code section 7.3.104.A to allow a 30'<br/>wide lot where 50' is required for lots in the SU (Special Use) zone<br/>district at 919 N El Paso St. 919 N El Paso St is 5,900 square feet in<br/>the SU (Special Use) zone district.

(Quasi-Judicial)

Related Files: SUBD-23-0028, SUBD-23-0029

Presenter: Ann Odom, Planner II, Urban Planning Division

#### Staff Presentation:

Ann Odom, Planner II, gave a presentation describing the scope and intent of the project.

#### Applicant Presentation:

Terilynn Palmer, the applicant, gave a presentation.

## Public Discussion:

Carl Meisel, a member of the neighborhood commented in support.

Gary Turner, the neighbor of the property, commented in opposition.

Terilynn Palmer responded to the concerns of the neighbor.

Motion by Commissioner Slattery, seconded by Commissioner Foos, to approve the 919 N El Paso St nonuse variance to City Code section 7.3.104.A to allow a 30' wide lot where 50' is required in the SU (Special Use) zone district, based upon the findings that the review criteria for granting a nonuse variance as set forth in City Code Section 7.5.802.B have been met. The motion passed by a vote of 6:0:0:3

Aye: 6 - Commissioner Foos, Commissioner Hensler, Chair Hente, Vice Chair McMurray, Commissioner Rickett and Commissioner Slattery

# 7. Unfinished Business

## **Kettle Creek**

7.A. AR PUD An appeal of the City Planning Commission approval for the Kettle
 20-00538 Creek development plan consisting of 61.71 acres located north of the intersection Thunder Mountain Road and Old Ranch Road.

(Quasi-Judicial)

Related Cases: AR FP 20-00539

Presenter:

Katelynn Wintz, Planning Supervisor, Planning Department Peter Wysocki, Director, Planning Department

Motion by Commissioner Rickett, seconded by Commissioner Slattery, to recommend approval to the City Council for the PUD development plan for the Kettle Creek North subdivision illustrating 247 single-family Motion by Commissioner Rickett, seconded by Commissioner Slattery, to a approve detached lots, based on the finding that the application meets the review criteria contained in City Code sections 7.3.606 and 7.5.502(E), subject to the following conditions: Conditions of Approval:

 The standards for the Wildland Urban Interface, as set forth in the Fire Prevention section of Chapter 8 of the City Code, will be required and applied to all new construction in the Kettle Creek North subdivision.
 There will be a 50-foot wide fuels management area, as described in City Code section 8.4.105-K102, along the northern boundary of the development and that Kettle Creek North's metropolitan district documents require the metropolitan district to maintain the fuels management area according to the requirements of that code section.

No Certificates of Occupancy be issued in the Kettle Creek North Filing No.
 subdivision until a fire station is constructed and staffed along the Highway
 corridor.

4. An access point to Howells Road will be constructed and maintained by the metropolitan district and must be sufficient for use by emergency vehicles and approved by the Fire Department.

#### The motion passed by a vote of 4:2:0:3

- Aye: 4 Commissioner Hensler, Vice Chair McMurray, Commissioner Rickett and Commissioner Slattery
- No: 2 Commissioner Foos and Chair Hente
- 7.B.AR FPA referral from City Council of 61.71-acre PUD Development Plan for20-00539Kettle Creek North

(Quasi-Judicial)

A referral from City Council of a 21.33-acre final plat application for Kettle Creek North Filing No. 1 subdivision, illustrating 74 single-family detached lots.

(Quasi-Judicial)

Related Files: AR PUD 20-00538

Presenter: Katelynn Wintz, Planning Supervisor, Planning & Community Development

#### Staff Presentation:

Katelynn Wintz, Planning Supervisor, presented, describing the scope and intent along with the history of the project.

#### **Questions from Commissioners:**

Commissioner Rickett confirmed the extension of the streets that lead to Howells Road.

Chair Hente confirmed City Council's comments were for the commissioners to have considered the items for review and not based them on "make or break" items.

**Applicant Presentation:** 

Dean Venezia, part owner of the property, and Chris Lieber, Planning and Landscaping Architecture, presented in further detail what had changed from their previous application.

## Public Discussion:

James Loo, a resident of the neighborhood, commented in support, with the only critique being that the height was too high. He asked if there was a consideration for changing the scale of the project.

Ryan Ruebenson, a resident of North Fork, commented in support of the project.

Devin Camacho, Government Affairs Manager, Colorado Springs Chamber & EDC, commented on his organization's mission. He added that this project would close the gap for attainable housing in their community.

Rich Sevcik spoke on behalf of the following who ceded their time: Patrick Flowers, Nadine Duecker-Pratt, Timothy Hromadka, Steve Feldman, Eric Ammermann, and Jay Sklenar. Rich touched on their main concerns: morning traffic, emergency evacuation, and the developer's refusal to add a second exit. He added his disapproval of the traffic study conducted.

Sam Bryant spoke on behalf of the following who ceded their time: Mary Bonner, Robert Medina, Paul Ryan, Rhoda Musella, Michelle Thomason, Trish Sanford, and Scott Sanford. Sam discussed the bridge the community requested, adding that the applicant refused to take it into consideration. He noted their main concern was having an exit plan and shared wind and fire facts.

Matt Westfall spoke on behalf of the following who ceded their time: Erica Morales, Ed Lotterhos, and Shelly Davis. Matt commented on his Navy experience with emergency response. He made reference to a traffic study that he conducted. He added a scenario in which parents were attempting to reach their children and asked the commissioners to evaluate this project properly.

Ben Haney, a resident, questioned the applicant's unwillingness to contribute to a bridge but would contribute to the creek.

Chris Webb, a resident of North Fork, commented on the safety in question, adding the previous devastating fire. He added that adding more homes did not make sense.

Charlie Shay, a resident of Howells Road, provided history and current facts on this project. He added that staff had no right to remove the condition that the City Council recommended accommodating the bridge. He added that the current population already experienced heavy traffic. He suggested denying the development until a safe plan was presented.

General Duncan McNam spoke on behalf of the following who ceded their time: Dave Lomend, Jim Bonner. Duncan shared his background in the Air Force by adding history to the area. He added that the current activity did not honor the commitments made to the residents in the past. He recommended requesting a bridge for residents before approving this project.

Sarah Noley, a nearby resident, touched base on previous planners' notes from City Fire Department comments. She shared the nearby road history and current growth. Sarah then shared the numerous signatures of residents who did not want Howells road access.

Patricia Gustarson, a longtime resident of the area, shared her perspective on enjoying the wildlife in the area. She noted that altering the area took away from their ability to ride horses, for example. Patricia requested reconsideration and finding another route to build on.

Greg Edwards, a previous North Fork Safety Committee member, commented on Fire Department's time frames being outside of standards. He added that this issue was specifically about evacuation and hoped city staff were the gatekeepers for residents' safety and denied the project.

Debra McNollan, a resident of North Fork, commented on changes to a nearby middle school walking zone. This change caused students to walk about 1.7 miles. She added that the concern was the added traffic for parents dropping off children as well as the distance students would walk. Debra pointed out that adding more homes without an exit would pose multiple risks to their children.

#### **Applicant Rebuttal:**

Chris Lieber touched on the residents' concerns about traffic, noting that the study showed the development added three additional cars per minute during peak hours. Bridge costs were also calculated with city engineering to determine the cost presented. Chris added that they were trying to strike a balance on emergency roads to pave.

Scott, the applicant representative, commented on their traffic study by noting that they did not typically count Mondays or Fridays as they tried to anticipate construction projects that might impact the study. He discussed the specifics that went into a study.

Katelynn Wintz clarified the implementation of the master plan and the seven considerations voted on by the City Council.

#### **Questions from Commissioners:**

Commissioner Rickett questioned the terms used by the City Council as considerations or conditions.

Katelynn Wintz clarified that the City Attorney's office had determined the conditions could be seen as considerations by the commission to implement or not implement.

Commissioner Slattery asked if there was a pre-1997 Briargate master plan.

Katelynn Wintz noted that this might have been accessible in hard copy due to its age.

Commissioner Slattery asked what the purpose of the city-owned property along Powers between North Fork was.

Commissioner Hensler noted that it might have been the detention pond.

Katelynn Wintz confirmed.

Chair Hente questioned a schedule for a possible fire station.

Kris Cooper, Deputy Fire Marshal, said the station was looking to open in the third quarter of 2024 due to delays in design and the cost of materials.

Chair Hente questioned the emails residents brought up from a fire marshal.

Kris Cooper noted he was not involved in the original emails and could not speak to that, but had been in conversations regarding access and a paved Howells Road. The city would not have control over the pavement, which was why the condition went away.

Commissioner Rickett questioned a review of evacuation based on the development plan showing additional access. He asked if it was acceptable for evacuation and alleviated the concern.

Kris Cooper commented that the fire code in the city required single-family homes with over 30 homes to have two access points that wouldn't be congested. He added that the exception to the code was when there were topographical challenges that would allow their department to make a determination. He noted the fire chief and marshal agreed that Howells Road was a reasonable accommodation. Chris commented that the fire chief and marshal had gone on record about the community being alert to their environment and not waiting for their say should they feel in danger.

Commissioner Foos questioned how they interacted with the county's Zone Haven software.

Kris Cooper noted the software was coordinated with the Office of Emergency Management but could not speak to the specifics.

Commissioner Hensler questioned the fire risk map shown. She asked if this map was accurate.

Kris Cooper noted that he could not answer to the state-level mapping.

Commissioner Rickett questioned a new traffic study since the installation of the modifications to the area to determine improvements.

Todd Frisbee noted they had not done an additional traffic study. They used the study received by Matrix, and they did meet the city's acceptable standards. Todd added that he reviewed the numbers in reference to comments that seniors were not present on the day studied. He had himself and multiple staff members go and observe the area to determine which pick-up and drop-off

zones were causing the majority of the congestion in the area.

Commissioner Rickett questioned the exits out of the area and reconsidered a new reconfiguration.

Todd Frisbee commented that the extension to Powers Road did not affect the interchange at Interquest. Addressing emergency access was discussed with the director of CDOT and it was determined it was not in their code to allow access to the freeway. If it were approved, it would then need to go through a commission, which could then deny approval. Todd wanted the public to understand the hurdles it took to make these changes.

Commissioner Hensler questioned the standard ratio set in the study, taking into consideration those who worked from home.

Todd Frisbee commented that there were rates for single-family homes based on studies done over the years on peak and off-peak hours. As this information was compiled, it accounted for all sceneries. Todd commented on his trust in the consistency with which this study worked based on his years working in traffic, even post COVID.

Commissioner Hensler requested further confirmation from Todd on traffic concerns.

Todd Frisbee confirmed that the impacts of additional traffic from this development did not pose a significant threat to traffic flows.

Commissioner Hensler questioned the residents' comments on the bridge. She requested rejection for future roadways based on other development options.

Chris Lieber touched on potential changes but could not speak to it being on the county's radar to pave. He added there was a connection between Union and Milam that was important.

Commissioner Slattery questioned possible road plans in the future.

Chris Lieber commented on existing proposed access off of Interquest to the north of the development and Kettle Creek drainage: there was the possibility to develop in the north in the future, but access was only intended in the north at this time due to potential changes to the land use.

Commissioner Hensler referenced the original master plan as being residential. She asked if there was coordination in the past to bring forth this project today.

Chris Lieber confirmed there were planned utility extensions and Kettle Creek to connect to Thunder Mountain.

Commissioner Hensler requested confirmation of the size of the design to accommodate this type of development in the future.

Chris Lieber confirmed this based on the current road extensions to hold the

capacity.

Commissioner Hensler asked if there was consideration for lower density.

Chris Lieber answered a development plan and plat had been submitted, and they felt it was appropriate for the large lots, which would not change in density.

Commissioner Slattery requested confirmation on the singular access point from Thunder Mountain.

Chris Lieber answered that these changes would have had to happen during the master plan.

Kate Wintz shared the 2000 amendment to the Briargate master plan.

#### **Discussion and Decision of Planning Commission:**

Vice-Chair McMurray noted his back-and-forth decision on this project. He commented on whether or not residents would have rethought purchasing a home in this area knowing this project was in place, he felt it would not have made a difference. He added that emergency access points remained a key topic, yet with his experience, he believed the northern and western access points would not have happened regardless of how good the concept was. The eastern access seemed more logical, as Howells Road would have served a better purpose. The Vice-Chair acknowledged all of the work and discussion, and he felt he could support this project.

Commissioner Rickett thanked the public for their participation and echoed the comments about the eastern access utilization from the vice-chair. He was also in support of this project.

Commissioner Hensler also thanked the public while noting their work on the safety committee. She commented that the developer had done a great job with the considerations requested. She added that traffic would always be a factor and trusted our experts' studies were sufficient.

Chair Hente commented on his change in decision but understood the supply and demand for housing. Ultimately, dumping onto Old Ranch Road was not a clear evacuation plan. He understood the costs the developer was coming across to create more paths, yet he felt that without any other access, it hurt the community, leading to his not supporting this project.

Commissioner Foos noted he was in support of this project but would not support it due to the infrastructure put forth. The safety issue was more important than the cost.

Commissioner Rickett added alternative evacuation points for his peers, noting there was direct access other than Old Ranch Road.

Commissioner Slattery commented that the solution on Howells and the compromise on exits by the developer protected citizens and would support the project.

Motion by Commissioner Rickett, seconded by Commissioner Hensler, to recommend approval to the City Council for the final plat for Kettle Creek North Filing No. 1 subdivision illustrating 74 single-family detached lots, based on the finding that the application meets the review criteria contained in City Code section 7.7.303, subject to the following conditions: Conditions of Approval:

 The standards for the Wildland Urban Interface, as set forth in the Fire Prevention section of Chapter 8 of the City Code, will be required and applied to all new construction in the Kettle Creek North subdivision.
 There will be a 50-foot wide fuels management area, as described in City Code section 8.4.105-K102, along the northern boundary of the development and that Kettle Creek North's metropolitan district documents require the metropolitan district to maintain the fuels management area according to the requirements of that code section.

3. An access point to Howells Road will be constructed and maintained by the metropolitan district and must be sufficient for use by emergency vehicles and approved by the Fire Department.

#### **Technical Modification:**

Add note to final plat: "Until such time as the new fire station located at Powers Boulevard and Highway 83 is operational, Colorado Springs Fire Department may have slower response times."

#### The motion passed by a vote of 4:2:0:3

- Aye: 4 Commissioner Hensler, Vice Chair McMurray, Commissioner Rickett and Commissioner Slattery
- No: 2 Commissioner Foos and Chair Hente

## 8. New Business

## Launchpad Apartments

8.A. APPL-23-00 An appeal of the Planning Commission's decision to affirm the administrative decision for the approval of a multi-family residential development plan, known as Launchpad Apartments, located at 864 North 19th Street, and deny the appeal filed against Launchpad Apartments.

(Quasi-Judicial)

Related Files: DEPN-23-0001

Presenter: William Gray, Senior Planner, Planning & Community Development Peter Wysocki, Director, Planning & Community Development

Summary: Owner: Pikes Peak Real Estate Foundation, Inc Developer: Cohen Esrey and The Place Representative: NES, Inc Location: 864 North 19th Street

Planning Commission, at a regularly scheduled public hearing on June 15, 2023, voted six (6) to zero (0) to deny the appeal of the Launchpad Apartments project and affirm the administrative decision that approved a development plan for the multi-family residential project.

The Planning Commission found that project met the criteria required for approving a development plan, as set forth in City Code Section 7.5.502.E, thereby affirming the administrative decision, and found that the filed appeal did not meet the criteria in City Code Section 7.5.906.A.4 and denied the appeal.

The review and decision by both the Planning Commission and City Staff for the Launchpad Apartments project were under the previously adopted land use code as both the original application for the development plan and the appeal were filed prior to the effective date of the Unified Development Code ("UDC"). The effective date of the UDC was June 5, 2023.

An appeal to the Planning Commission's decision was filed by Tracey Bradford, on behalf of a group of 22 people ("Appellant Group"), on June 26, 2023. This again raises the matter of transition from the previously adopted land use code and the UDC. The appeal of Planning Commission's decision to City Council was filed after the effective date of the UDC. As such, this appeal action is subject to the procedures of the UDC.

UDC Section 7.5.415.8, Further Appeals, states "Appeals decided by the Planning Commission...may be further appealed to the City Council, unless the matter is remanded to the City official or body that made the decision that is the subject of the appeal." The project was not remanded back to the administrative level. The appeal was filed on June 26, 2023, which is within

ten (10) days from the date of Planning Commission's decision, the appellant has the right to appeal (UDC Section 7.4.415.A.1.b), and the notice states the basis of appeal as required by UDC Section 7.4.415.2. This notice of appeal complies with the UDC so that it can be considered by City Council. The UDC does give council the authority to consider the sufficiency of the notice of appeal as a preliminary matter. For example, a finding of insufficiency by City Council would mean the appeal is rejected and no hearing would be held.

The appeal specifically requests that City Council reverse the decision of Planning Commission and deny the development plan for the Launchpad Apartments project. The appellant contends that the Planning Commission erred in its decision to approve the proposal because the project does not meet the criteria necessary to approve a development plan. More particularly, that the project is not consistent with The Westside Plan which provides land use guidance for this area. The Westside Plan's approach for this area calls for a lower density (a density range of 5-16 DU/AC) and lesser building height (maximum building height of 35'). The proposed project has a density of

Included with the appeal, under separate cover, is a request from the Appellant to postpone the hearing until a September 2023 City Council meeting. The additional time is necessary as the spokesperson for the Appellant is out of state due to a family emergency, delayed or late availability of the audio for the June 15th Planning Commission meeting, and that the 20 new appellants need additional preparation time. As indicated above, this appeal to City Council is subject to the procedures of the UDC and not the previously adopted code. A postponement request may only be granted for good cause shown to and found by the decision-making body. The one (1) time continuation to the next scheduled City Council meeting as allowed under the previously adopted code is no longer an available appeal procedure.

Background:

The Applicant proposed a 50-unit, four (4) story, affordable housing development at 864 North 19th Street. This application has been awarded low-income housing tax credits from Colorado Housing Finance Authority (CHFA) and a home loan from Community Development Division of the City's Planning and Community Development Department.

The site is zoned R-5 (Multi-Family Residential). Multi-family residential is a permitted use type in the zone district. The proposed multi-family building is four (4) stories and has a building height of 45 feet, which meets the zone district's maximum building height standard of 45 feet.

The zoning code requires a minimum lot area of 800 feet per unit or 40,000 square feet for the 50-unts that are proposed. The lot size of

1.37 acres or 59,680 square feet would permit up to 75-units on the subject parcel size per City Code. Further, minimum lot width (50 feet), minimum setbacks (20 feet Front Setback, 5 feet side setback, and 25 feet rear setback) and maximum lot coverage (40%) are met with the approved site design and layout.

Parking standards for 1-bedroom (1.5 spaces per dwelling unit) and 2-bedroom (1.7 spaces per dwelling unit) multi-family units are met for required off-street parking through the provision of on-site spaces for cars, motorcycles, and bikes. The site also is being afforded standard reductions for its proximity to public transit and public bike route. The total number of parking spaces required for the development is 35 parking spaces, based on the bedroom configuration of the multi-family units, qualifying reductions for bike and motorcycle parking (City Code Section 7.4.204.C.3.a-b), and reductions for location to transit and bike routes City Code Section 7.4.203.C.1. a-b). A total of 38 off-street parking spaces are provided to meet the required parking.

The project is landscaped along each property line to enhance the aesthetics of the buffer between the uses (single-family to multi-family) to insure compatibility. It is also done along the street frontage to improve the streetscape along North 19th Street. Both of which are requirements of the city's landscaping standards for multi-family development. The building has been intentionally located to the northeast corner to provide additional buffer between the single-family residences to the west and south. The buffer is greater for the property to south because both properties are at equivalent elevations. For the residential to the east there is also a significant grade separation coupled with distance to create an effective buffer between residential uses of varied density.

Access to the site is aligned with Dale Street and an access point was eliminated to improve safe ingress and egress to the site from 19th Street. A traffic study was conducted and concluded North 19th Street has the capacity to accommodate development traffic. The finding and recommendations of the report was accepted by Traffic Engineering.

Due to the site location being west of Interstate 25 a Geologic Hazard Study was required with the development application. The Geologic Hazard Study was prepared by CTL Thompson, Incorporated and it concluded that the geologic conditions would not preclude development of the site as proposed. The most significant that affects the proposed development is the steep slopes at the west side of the site, existing fill, and expansive soils. The stability issue with the slope is its susceptibility to erosion and sloughing if left in current condition and unaddressed. Final grading, including retaining wall, erosion control measures, and landscaping (native seed and plant materials) to restore the steep slopes to a gentler descent as it existed prior to excavation, which was most likely sometime in the late 1960's when a structure existed on the property. Another action taken by the Applicant is to limit the disturbance on the steeper slopes on the property. This is why you see much of the improvements being located toward North 19th Street. An important conclusion from the Applicant's engineer is that the recommendations of the Geologic Hazard Study must be followed both during and post construction to ensure that the risks of development are controlled, particularly slope stability. City Engineering and City Planning have reviewed and accepted the provided Geologic Hazard Study.

The proposed use is compatible with the surrounding mix of zones and uses, which consists of commercial, single-family, and multi-family. Compatibility can be influenced or effected by intensity or density of uses, and bulk and mass of buildings. This is particularly important where this property adjoins the single-family residential neighborhood to the west and south. It is less important for the surrounding zoning to the north and east where the sites are developed with larger buildings west and north. The chosen location for the building and landscape design are measures taken by the Applicant to ensure the development is compatible with surrounding uses and building forms and heights.

No parkland or school lands are planned for the site. Both City Parks and School District requested fees in lieu of land dedication. Fees in lieu of dedicated land is an acceptable alternative to addressing school and parkland impacts under City Code.

To conclude, the proposed, use, density, building height, siting of the building, building design, site and building lighting, landscaping, and access are what contribute to making the requested development plan fit with surrounding zoning, land uses, and building shapes and sizes. This development is also located proximate to places of employment, schools, parks, groceries, services, entertainment, transit routes, bike routes, parks, and open spaces. All are characteristics that make it a good fit for residential development as proposed. These are similar reasons as to why the Westside neighborhoods are desirable places to live within the city. Again, this site is a good fit for multi-family development and will be a positive and beneficial attribute to the neighborhood.

City Planning staff finds that the proposed project addresses the applicable review criteria set forth in City Code for a development plan. A thorough analysis of how the proposed project substantially complies with City adopted plans is provided below, as it is the main argument of the appeal notice.

City adopted plans applicable to this multi-family development include, The Westside Plan, PlanCOS, and HomeCOS. Each are discussed in more detail in following sections of this staff report. By example, The Westside Plan functions as a guiding document for policy and regulatory changes and to provide context for land use decisions within the plans study area. This is exactly how The Westside Plan has been utilized for the past 40 years. Even the ordinance that adopted this plan required City Staff to "exercise our respective functions and powers in a manner that is consistent with The Westside Plan." The Westside Plan includes many recommendations where certain entities and stakeholders were tasked with furthering implementation measures that have largely not come to fruition or have gone undone. An example, of this would be zone changes of areas within the study area to align with the plan's future land use map. Furthermore, the development plan review criteria in city code requires that any development plan substantially complies with city adopted plans that are applicable to the site.

City Planning staff has evaluated the proposed application for conformance with the City's current comprehensive plan ("PlanCOS"), adopted in January 2019. According to PlanCOS Vision Map, the project site is located within and at the edge of an Established Historic Neighborhood, a subset of an Established Neighborhood. It is also adjacent to a Changing Neighborhood. The stated goal in PlanCOS for this neighborhood typology is to recognize, support, and enhance the existing character of these neighborhoods, while support their ongoing investment and improved adaptation. New development should incorporate elements of existing neighborhoods. They should expect some degree of infill and redevelopment. Those established neighborhoods which have a historic designation in PlanCOS have an especially high value for preserving the legacy of existing design and architecture. These areas may also experience some amount of change especially in areas of transition with less historic uses. The 19th Street corridor between Uintah Street and King Street is an area of transition

between an Established Neighborhood and Changing Neighborhood. This location has less historic character found in parts of the Old Colorado City neighborhood and is more like the Changing Neighborhood Typology. The goal of this neighborhood is to retrofit, reinvent, and introduce new features to enhance the identity, quality, affordability, and attractiveness of these neighborhoods. This project matches both the goals of the Established Neighborhood Typology (including Historic Neighborhoods when located in areas of transition) and the Changing Neighborhood Typology.

The Launchpad Apartments project is also consistent with at least three (3) important PlanCOS vision themes, as follows:

Housing for All

GOAL VN-2: Strive for a diversity of housing types, styles, and price points distributed throughout our city through a combination of supportive development standards, community partnerships, and appropriate zoning and density that is adaptable to market demands and housing needs.

Policy VN-2.A: Promote neighborhoods that incorporate common desire neighborhood elements.

Strategy VN-2.A-1: In partnership with other organizations and agencies, continue to develop and support existing, expanded and new initiatives to address homelessness to include provision of additional shelter beds, permanent supportive housing, and programs to be coupled with increased enforcement of applicable laws including camping bans.

Strategy VN-2.A-3: Support land use decision and projects that provide a variety of housing types and sizes, service a range of demographic sectors, and meeting the needs of residents and families through various life stages and income levels.

Policy VN-3.F: Enhance mobility and connectivity between neighborhoods across Colorado Springs and with surrounding jurisdictions.

Strategy VN-3.F-1: Increase transportation recreation choices for all neighborhoods by improving or adding bike lanes, sidewalks, off-street neighborhood trails, and greenways that connects to larger system trails...

• Unique Place Typologies and Framework The site is within a Community Activity Center. Community Activity Centers are places that serve the day-to-day needs of subareas of the city and their surrounding neighborhoods. These places may be anchored by uses such as grocery stores and supporting public, private, and non-proft service establishments. Although the definition of these places is intended to encompass options well beyond traditional commercial centers, a 100,000 to 300,000 square foot community shopping center provides a useful example for the size, market, and service area for this typology. These places should be designed to be multimodally connected to the surrounding development. Community Activity Centers should include a well-integrated mix of uses including smaller businesses and a variety of housing choices. In addition, it is near is near an Entertainment and Commercial Center (Old Colorado City) that also support a mix of supporting uses, such as higher density residential, office, service, medical, and civic uses.

Unique Places - Embrace Creative Infill, Adaptation, and Land
 Use Change

GOAL UP-2: Embrace thoughtful, targeted, and forward-thinking changes in land use, infill, reinvestment, and redevelopment to respond to shifts in demographics, technology, and the market. Policy UP-2.A: Support infill and land use investment throughout mature and developed areas of the city.

City planning staff finds the project in question and its associated applications to be substantially in conformance with PlanCOS and its guidance.

The project site is part of The Westside Plan master planned area ("The Westside Plan"). The Westside Plan study area totals approximately 2,900-acres and consists of a mix of commercial, industrial, office, entertainment, multi-family and single-family residential and parks and open spaces land uses.

The main intent of the Westside Plan is to guide the probable evolution of change within the Westside study area in a manner that minimizes negative impacts and maximizes the positive. The land use recommendations are based on a design to promote compatibility between existing and future development. To elaborate, the whole premise of the plan is based upon the assumption that the task of compatibility is achievable, it will not be at the expense of any one land use, that infilling is feasible and supported, and that the recommendations are flexible to compliment the unique circumstances of inner-city development.

The project proposes a residential use that is in a residential-medium

land use category. The proposed multi-family use has been determined to be compatible with surrounding uses, which include single-family residential, multi-family residential, commercial-retail, school, bar, and commercial-services. The area where this project site is located is more diverse and mixed in its land uses and the intensity of those uses.

The proposed multi-family use works well in this mixed-use environment, particularly being at the edge of the study area where residential and commercial characteristics merge that are both within and outside of the westside.

The project infills an existing vacant property and The Westside Plan supports infilling. It is not infilling at any cost, but infill that is compatible.

The residential category of the property is residential-medium, and this category recommends 5-16 DU/AC and a max building height of 35'. The project as proposed is 36 DU/AC and a building height of 45'. As proposed it does exceed the recommended density and height standards, but this residential category was developed to support the policy of infilling and encourage higher density where feasible, and for it to not detract from the single-family character and insure a compatible relationship to surrounding uses. Further, the plan intent is not to take or replace existing zoning standards without a zone change process. The proposed plan as designed meets the developments standards of the R-5 zone district.

The site is located on a minor arterial street, bus route, and bike route. It is proximate to Uintah (Principal Arterial), I-25, shopping center, downtown, schools, employment locations, other services and parks and open space. It is these factors that justify this site being considered for higher density, with the caveat that the site plan includes a design that insures compatibility. To reinforce, it is the type of project (multi-family), and its proximity to the central city, convenient transit, already developed amenities that make it a good fit for higher density consideration.

The building has been intentionally located to the northeast corner to provide additional buffer between the single-family residences to the west and south. The buffer is greater for the property to south because both properties are at equivalent elevations. For the residential to the east there is also a significant grade separation coupled with distance to create an effective buffer between residential uses of varied density. The project is landscaped along each property line to enhance the aesthetics of the buffer between the uses to insure compatibility. It is also done along the street frontage to improve the streetscape along 19th Street.

The building orientation is toward 19th Street to fit the development pattern of the Westside. An important characteristic for the building to be compatible with the character of the area.

Building height is buffered/softened by using variations of the building wall and roof line, landscaping, grade separation and distance. All this combined help the building be a more compatible scale with surrounding buildings.

The site lighting and building lighting that is planned are full cut off fixtures, so all light is directed downward to have a positive night lighting impact to surrounding properties.

The site is in the North Bluff sub area of The Westside Plan. The primary recommendation in this sub area involves vacant land and a good part this area is developed single-family residential. Higher density development is encouraged, and it does so to encourage alternative housing besides single-family residential, infilling and to capitalize on existing public investment. The plan certainly selected higher density areas, but it did not preclude other areas from being considered so long as it was compatible and fit the area where it was proposed. The proposed project adds variety to the housing choices in this area of the city and because its location capitalizes on public investments. The project is served by existing infrastructure (streets, water, wastewater, gas and electric), transit, parks, open spaces, and trails. So, it is an example of development capitalizing on public investment in a positive way. It is a cost benefit to the services that are provided by the city.

The plan meets neighborhood objectives of attractive design, compatibility of uses, access to bike and pedestrian facilities, and infill. This plan to a small degree preserves natural features as it will stabilize/rehabilitate the hillside located behind or west of the multi-family building. There is a case that it also preserves (conserves) a natural feature of this property.

Through staff's review of this project, it has been found to be in general conformance with the long-range vision of The Westside as it is consistent with the mix of uses that the plan lays out for this area and the developed and developing land patterns and uses of today.

The Launchpad will offer 50-units of safe, quality supportive housing targeted to Transition Aged Youth ("TAY") ages 18-24 who are experiencing or at risk of experiencing homelessness. "Housing First" is one of the most proven models to help prevent and reduce homelessness - our city's goal that most would agree and support. The project is in direct alignment with HomeCOS Objective 1: Reduce homelessness through a housing first approach and Objective 2: Increase the supply of affordable rentals. Additionally, this project aligns with the Community Development Division's 2020-2024 Consolidated Plan priority needs by increasing the supply of affordable housing and providing homeless housing and supportive services. The project is addressing an unmet community housing need and because of this is the recipient of a \$500,000 HOME loan from the Community Development Division as well as an 80% rebate through the Affordable and Attainable Multi-Family Fee Rebate Program ("Rebate Program") for entitlement review fees and utility tap and infrastructure fees. The Launchpad project received the highest rebate score of any affordable housing project eligible for the rebate program. Scores for rebates are calculated based on: percent of units reserved for 50% area median income and below; ongoing affordability period; exceeding minimum requirements of section 504 (accessibility in units for mobility disabilities and accessibility for individuals with hearing or visual impairments); reserving units for HUD special needs populations (such as those experiencing homelessness; incorporation of the 7 elements of universal design throughout the project; alignment with City Planning Documents including PlanCOS and HomeCOS; located in a high opportunity area; and exceeding building code standards by aligning with Colorado Springs Utilities conservation goals.

Previous Council Action:

City Council previously acted on this property as follows:

- (1) 1980 with the adoption of The Westside Plan; and
- (2) 1985 when the property was annexed and zoned; and
- (3) 1973 when the property was zoned to R-5; and

(4) 2023 when vacating a portion of alley located within the 1.37-acre site.

Financial Implications: N/A City Council Appointed Board/Commission/Committee Recommendation:

At the City Planning Commission meeting held on June 15, 2023, the appeal was considered under the New Business. Testimony, discussion, and deliberation was extensive for the proposed project. The pertinent issues associated with this project's review were compatibility with The Westside Plan, proposed density and building height, and geologic hazards. A Planning Commission motion to deny the appeal and uphold the administrative approval of the Launchpad Apartments project passed on a 6:0: vote, resulting in an approval of the project application (Planning Commissioners Almy, Briggs and Raughton were absent).

# Stakeholder Process:

The public notification process consisted of providing notice to adjacent property owners within 1,000 feet of the site, which included the mailing of postcards to 299 property owners on three (3) occasions; during the internal review stage, a neighborhood meeting held on February 21, 2023, and prior to the Planning Commission appeal hearing.

City Planning staff received both support and opposition comments during initial review. The support comments focused on the community need for supportive and affordable housing and convenient location to transit, bike routes, pedestrian ways, shopping, work, and outdoor recreation. Those opposed focused on building height, density, lack of parking, traffic, and inconsistencies with PlanCOS and The Westside Plan. The Applicant provided a response letter that addressed the public comment.

The February 21st neighborhood meeting (open house format) was attended by a total of 19 residents, Applicant and owner representatives and City Staff. The meeting revealed a considerable amount of support for the project from those that attended. The support comments focused on the community need for affordable housing and its accessibility to shopping, work, and transportation options (car, bike, ped, and transit). We did hear concerns about traffic, parking, building height, and public safety.

Additional public comment was also received at the onset of the 2023 City Council and Mayor races. The comments received were in support of the project and again they focused on the project's overall community benefits in the areas of affordable housing and homelessness.

It should also be noted that the Applicant engaged stakeholders on their own by holding a pre-application neighborhood meeting in the Fall of 2022, and direct neighborhood outreach. City Planning staff did not receive any documentation regarding the pre-submittal conversations with stakeholders.

Staff input is outlined in the following sections of this report. Staff sent the conditional use development application plan to the standard internal and external review agencies for comments. Commenting agencies included Colorado Springs Fire Department, City Engineering, Stormwater Enterprise, and City Traffic Engineering. City Planning staff notes that the following review agencies provided project specific comments:

• City Traffic - The City's Traffic Engineering Division required a Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) for the project. City Traffic Engineering agreed with the finding and recommendations in the TIA. Traffic Engineering did require that the access to the site be aligned with Dale Street.

• City Fire - The City's Fire Department (CSFD) had review comments to ensure that the project met the Wildland Urban Interface ("WUI") requirements. All required notes for the WUI are included on the development plan.

• City Engineering - The City Engineering Development Review (EDR) required additional public easement for sidewalks along the eastern property line. In addition, they reviewed and accepted the Geologic Hazard Report for the project. City Engineering and Planning did discuss whether a third-party review (i.e., Colorado Geologic Survey) was necessary. Based on the analysis and recommendations set forth under the Geologic Hazard Report and known site constraints a third-party review of the report was not deemed necessary.

• SWENT -Stormwater Enterprise (SWENT) had no major review comments for this project. The development required a Final Drainage Report and stormwater improvements addressing detention, water quality and green infrastructure to address stormwater drainage.

• CSU - Colorado Springs Utilities (CSU) had no major comments on the proposed project and recommended approval once the Applicant addressed review issues related to location and applicable design criteria related to water and wastewater service lines. Alternatives:

- 1. Vote on sufficiency of the appeal as a preliminary matter; or
- 2. Uphold the action of the City Planning Commission; or
- 2. Modify the decision of the City Planning Commission; or
- 3. Reverse the action the City Planning Commission; or
- 4. Refer the matter back to the City Planning Commission for further consideration.

## Staff Presentation:

William Gray, Senior Planner, presented, describing the scope and intent along with the history of the project.

Catherine Duarte, HUD Programs Manager, Community Development, dove deeper into affordable housing and gave an understanding of what went into approving an affordable housing project within her Community Development division.

#### **Appellant Presentation:**

Tom Strand, the appellant (one of four) and nearby resident, commented that his reasons for appealing were mainly due to the location of that project. He supported youth housing but did not support it on 19th Street and Uintah.

Scott Hiller, the appellant (two of four), virtually addressed similar reasons. He added that the main reason to oppose was the height, density, and location, regardless of who would have applied for this type of project on that location.

## **Applicant Presentation:**

Andrea Barlow, Principal, Shawna Kemppainen, CEO of The PLACE, Wayne Bland, Housing and Sustainability Committee, The PLACE, and Lisa Sorensen, Development Director, presented their company's mission and vision for the project.

#### **Public Discussion:**

Beth Hall Roalstad, CEO of Homeward Pikes Peak, expressed support for this project.

Sam Clark, Pikes Peak Real Estate Foundation, discussed how CHAFA funding allowed us to continue funding for the future. If the city did not accept this type of funding, it went to other cities.

Evan, Homeless Initiatives, expressed the ability to be the lead city in the state as far as ending youth homelessness.

Jason Cooper, a nearby resident, commented on the appellant's previous history and ownership of the property, contradicting the current project.

Zuri, a nearby resident, commented on her experience living nearby affordable housing in California. She felt this project in no way harmed the area and was supportive.

Lisa Guin, Youth Couch at Heart Beauty, commented on her experience living in youth housing. She expressed the positives for youth in need.

#### Discussion and Decision of Planning Commission:

Commissioner Foos expressed his gratitude for this project and commended what the applicant intended to do.

Commissioner Rickett confirmed that this project met all criteria.

Commissioner Hensler commended those who had worked on this project. She noted that she felt the utilization of this space could not be better.

Motion by Vice Chair McMurray, seconded by Commissioner Hensler to deny the appeal and uphold the administrative approval of the Launchpad Apartments project, based upon the findings that the development plan meets the review criteria set forth in City Code Section 7.5.502.E, and that the appeal criteria in City Code Section 7.5.906.A.4 are not met. The motion passed by a vote of 6:0:0:3

# Kum & Go

8.B. ZONE-23-00 An ordinance amending the zoning map of the City of Colorado
 03 Springs relating to 1.81 acres located at the southwest corner of the East San Miguel Street and North Circle Drive intersection to retain the current zoning classification of MX-M/CR (Mixed-Use Medium Scale with Conditions of Record) and remove the condition of record #2, for the purpose of setting a public hearing date for August 8, 2023, and providing notice of the ordinance.

(Quasi-Judicial)

Related Files: COPN-23-0002

Presenter:

Austin Cooper, Planner II, Planning & Community Development Peter Wysocki, Director, Planning & Community Development

Motion by Commissioner Hensler, seconded by Commissioner Foos, to recommend approval to the City Council for the Zone Change relating to 1.82-acres to remove Condition No. 2 of City Ordinance No. 12-92 which stipulates "all activities shall be conducted entirely within a building" while retaining the current Zoning classification of PBC CR (Planned Business Center (to become MX-M) (Mixed-Use Medium Scale)) with Condition of Record) based upon the review criteria for a zone change, as set forth in City Code Section 7.5.603. The motion passed by a vote of 4:2:0:3

Aye: 4 - Commissioner Foos, Commissioner Hensler, Chair Hente and Vice Chair McMurray

Aye: 6 - Commissioner Foos, Commissioner Hensler, Chair Hente, Vice Chair McMurray, Commissioner Rickett and Commissioner Slattery

No: 2 - Commissioner Rickett and Commissioner Slattery

8.C. <u>COPN-23-00</u> A Concept Plan for a Kum and Go Convenience Store and ancillary <u>02</u> fueling station located at the southwest corner of North Circle Drive and San Miguel Street.

(Quasi-Judicial)

Related Files: ZONE-23-0003

Presenter:

Peter Lange, Planner II, Planning and Community Development

#### **Staff Presentation:**

Peter Lange, Planner II, presented a description of the scope and intent of the project.

#### **Applicant Presentation:**

Mary Castle, Entitlement & Engineering Solutions, and Robert Febic, Kum & Go Real Estate Manager, presented on behalf of the applicant.

#### **Questions from Commissioners:**

Commissioner Slattery questioned the EV charging station locations at that location.

Mary Castle answered that they were planning for that in the future.

Commissioner Hensler requested further clarity on the setbacks of that location.

Mary Castle noted they were allowed 25 feet from the property boundary to the west but were providing a 105-foot boundary.

Commissioner Hensler commented on the abundance of turf on their location and questioned if they were open to less turf on their landscaping.

Mary Castle confirmed that they worked with the native grasses.

## **Public Discussion:**

Abdul Jebuni, a business owner across from the proposed projects, expressed opposition. He felt that this large corporation put his small business in jeopardy. He added that the number of accidents would increase due to the traffic.

Mary Castle addressed Abdul's traffic concerns by expressing that they were committed to adding proper street lighting and bumps to mitigate the accident issues. She added that Kum & Go worked in close proximity to their neighborhood to form partnerships.

## **Questions from Commissioners:**

Commissioner Rickett questioned previous traffic studies by staff.

Todd Frisbee, City of Colorado Springs Traffic Engineering, confirmed that Kum & Go had committed to a future signal installation. His department's traffic studies showed no impact on traffic.

Chair Hensler asked for confirmation on previous zoning changes.

Peter Lange stated that the rezone was done in 2003 and had not changed since.

Commissioner Slattery commented on her support for removing the condition of record.

Commissioner Rickett commented in opposition to the project due to the 24/7 operation next to a residential building.

Motion by Commissioner Hensler, seconded by Commissioner Foos, to recommend approval to the City Council for a Concept Plan for the Kum and Go Convenience Store and Gas Station project, based upon the findings that the plan meets the review criteria for establishing a concept plan, as set forth in City Code Section 7.5.501(E). The motion passed by a vote of 4:2:0:3

- Aye: 4 Commissioner Foos, Commissioner Hensler, Chair Hente and Vice Chair McMurray
- No: 2 Commissioner Rickett and Commissioner Slattery

#### **Creekwalk Apartments**

8.D. PUDZ-22-00 08 An ordinance amending the zoning map of the City of Colorado Springs relating to 4.5584 acres of land located between E. St. Elmo Ave. and E. Ramona Ave. just west of S. Nevada Ave. from MX-M (Mixed Use Medium Scale) and R5 (Multi-Family Residential) zone districts, both with the SS (Streamside Overlay) zoning designation, to PDZ/SS (Planned Development Zone District with the Streamside Overlay Zone) for multi-family residential land use, with a maximum building height of 85 feet, and a maximum density of 87.72 DUs/acre.

(Quasi-Judicial)

Related Files: COPN-22-0025, PUDD-22-0038

Presenter:

Ryan Tefertiller, Urban Planning Manager, Planning and Community Development Department Peter Wysocki, Planning Director, Planning and Community Development Department

Motion by Commissioner Hensler, seconded by Commissioner Foos, to recommend approval to the City Council for the rezone of 4.5584 acres from C5 - Intermediate Business (recently changed to MX-M, Mixed Use Medium Scale) and R5 (Multi-Family Residential) zone districts, both with the SS (Streamside Overlay) zoning designation, to the Planned Development Zone District with the Streamside Overlay Zone (PDZ/SS) for multi-family residential land use, with a maximum building height of 85 feet, and a maximum density of 87.72 DUs/acre, based upon the findings that the change of zone request complies with the review criteria for establishing a PDZ zone as set forth in City Code Section 7.3.603, and the review criteria for a zone change as set forth in City Code Section 7.5.603. The motion passed by a vote of 4:2:0:3

- Aye: 4 Commissioner Foos, Commissioner Hensler, Chair Hente and Commissioner Slattery
- No: 2 Vice Chair McMurray and Commissioner Rickett
- 8.E. PUDD-22-00 A PUD Development Plan to allow construction of the Creekwalk
  38 Apartment project for a 7-story, 400-unit apartment building, located between E. St. Elmo Ave. and E. Ramona Ave. just west of S. Nevada Ave.

(Quasi-Judicial)

Related Files: PDZ-22-0008, COPN-22-0025

Presenter:

Ryan Tefertiller, Urban Planning Manager, Planning and Community Development Department

Peter Wysocki, Planning Director, Planning and Community Development Department

Motion by Commissioner Hensler, seconded by Commissioner Foos, to recommend approval to the City Council for the PUD development plan for the Creekwalk Apartment project, based upon the findings the proposal meets the review criteria for PUD development plans as set forth in City Code Section 7.5.502.E. and the criteria for PUD development plans set forth in City Code Section 7.3.606. Subject to the following technical modifications: Technical Modifications to the PUDD Development Plan:

1. Update the "Project Description" section on sheet 1 of the plan to correctly indicate that up to 400 apartment units are proposed within the building.

2. Provide the necessary irrigation notes for specific landscape areas.

3. Update the plan's facilities sheet to address all Colorado Springs Utilities concerns including correctly showing the site's hydrant location and showing the new wastewater main on both the utility and landscape sheets.

4. Update the plan to illustrate all exit pathways required by the Colorado Springs Fire Department.

5. Address Fire standards regarding pavement design, fire standpipe location and hose reach.

6. Address SWENT comments including:

a. Need to finalize the project's drainage report ensuring that the report and the plan are consistent with each other.

b. Ensure that the plan and the report meet all requirements, criteria and steps.

c. Add notes to the plan documenting the entity that will own and maintain the stormwater facility.

#### The motion passed by a vote of 4:2:0:3

- Aye: 4 Commissioner Foos, Commissioner Hensler, Chair Hente and Commissioner Slattery
- No: 2 Vice Chair McMurray and Commissioner Rickett
- 8.F. COPN-22-00 A Concept Plan Amendment for 14.40 acres of land between E.
  25 Ramona Ave. and E. Cheyenne Rd. within the Creekwalk Redevelopment Concept Plan to support the proposed Creekwalk Apartment project.

(Quasi-Judicial)

Related Files: PDZ-22-0008, PUDD-22-0038

#### Presenter:

Ryan Tefertiller, Urban Planning Manager, Planning and Community Development Department Peter Wysocki, Planning Director, Planning and Community Development Department

#### Staff Presentation:

Ryan Tefertiller, Urban Planning Manager, presented, describing the scope and intent of the project.

#### **Questions from Commissioners:**

Commissioner Rickett commented on the height of the project in relation to the largest building nearby, which was 4 stories and 52 feet.

Ryan Tefertiller answered that the Ivy Wild Hotel had been approved, as had the Luxe Apartments, which were significant in height.

Commissioner Rickett questioned the allowed height in Chapter 7 C5.

Ryan Tefertiller answered that the maximum C5 & R5 height was 45 feet.

#### **Applicant Presentation:**

Jim Houk, Kimley Horn, presented on behalf of the applicant.

#### **Public Discussion:**

James Loo, a resident of the neighborhood, commented in support, with the only critique being the height was too high. He asked if there was consideration of changing the scale of the project.

Jonathan Casper, a resident of the Ivy Wild neighborhood, commented in support with the only critique being the height. He added his excitement about this project.

Danny Meinek responded to both residents, noting that there were changes in height on one side of the building as well as a pedestrian bridge to cross the

creek.

#### **Discussion and Decision of Planning Commission:**

Commissioner Slattery commented on the positives of the urban renewal done on this project. She appreciated the connectivity and looked forward to the final design.

Vice-Chair McMurray commented that he felt it was out of balance as well as did not pass certain criteria: Development Plan Criteria 1 and Planned Unit Development Criteria C & G.

Chair Hente added his support for this project.

Commissioner Rickett commented in opposition due to the mass and height.

Commissioner Foos commented in support of the project.

Motion by Commissioner Hensler, seconded by Commissioner Foos, to recommend approval to the City Council for the amendment to the Creekwalk Redevelopment Concept Plan based upon the findings that the request meets the review criteria for concept plans as set forth in City Code Section 7.5.501.E. Subject to the following technical modifications: Technical Modifications to the Concept Plan: 1. Update the concept plan to ensure that the plan is consistent with the final

version of the development plan.

#### The motion passed by a vote of 4:2:0:3

- Aye: 4 Commissioner Foos, Commissioner Hensler, Chair Hente and Commissioner Slattery
- No: 2 Vice Chair McMurray and Commissioner Rickett

## 9. Updates/Presentations

# 10. Adjourn